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STATEMENT OF FACTS1 

In 1986, the City of Duluth (“City”) and the Fond du Lac Band of Lake Superior 

Chippewa (“Band”) entered into a series of agreements (“1986 Agreements”) to develop a casino 

in downtown Duluth through an entity known as the Duluth-Fond du Lac Economic 

Development Commission (“Commission”).  AR 1069; AR 988.  The parties entered into a 

Business Lease whereby the Band leased to the Commission the parcel the Band had purchased 

for the casino.  AR 1072.  The 1986 Business Lease was to run for an initial term of 25 years 

with the option for an extension term of 25 years.  AR 1073.  The 1986 Commission Agreement 

provided that the net proceeds from gaming would be divided as follows: 24.5% to the City, 

25.5% to the Band, and the remainder to the Commission to be used for economic development 

in Duluth or on the Band’s reservation.  AR 1019-20; AR 995.  The 1986 Commission 

Agreement empowered the Commission to license, regulate, and operate all gaming activities at 

the casino site.  AR 1010-11. 

Two years later, the Indian Gaming Regulatory Act (“IGRA”) was passed.  Pub. L. No. 

100-497, 102 Stat. 2467 (1988).  IGRA included a provision requiring that “the Indian tribe will 

have the sole proprietary interest and responsibility for the conduct of any gaming activity.”  25 

§ 2710(b)(2).  In 1989, the Band sued the City in the United States District Court for the District 

of Minnesota (“Court”), alleging that the 1986 Agreements violated IGRA.  AR 686-87; 697-99.  

The Court referred the parties to the National Indian Gaming Commission (“NIGC”) for a report 

and recommendation.  AR 715.  In 1993, NIGC Chairman Anthony Hope sent a letter to the 

Band Chairman and the Mayor of the City explaining his view that the 1986 Agreements 

                                                           
1 The City’s Statement of Facts is set out in individually numbered paragraphs.  Pursuant to the 

Court’s Order Establishing Procedures, Dkt. 3, the United States need not respond using 

corresponding paragraphs because this case involves judicial review of an agency action. 
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violated IGRA’s sole proprietary interest requirement and deferring enforcement to allow the 

parties to negotiate a new agreement.  AR 285-88.   

The 1986 Agreements were restructured into the 1994 Agreements.  Like in the 1986 

Business Lease, the 1994 Sublease retained the two-term lease with the second term set to start 

on April 1, 2011.  AR 1146-47.  The Sublease provided that the Commission, which was the 

lessee of the Band’s casino land under the 1986 Business Lease, would now sublease the casino 

land back to the Band.  AR 1139.  The Band, now both the owner and the sublessee, was to pay 

rent to the Commission in the amount of 19% of gross revenues from video games of chance.  

AR 1149.  The rent was assigned to the City.  AR 1226.  The rent was not fixed for the second 

term; the parties were to negotiate a new rent.  AR 1151.  While the 1994 Tribal-City Accord 

returned general control of the casino to the Band, the Accord placed limitations on the extent of 

the Band’s control.  For example, the City reserved the right to consent to any change in the 

Band’s gaming ordinance or regulations pertaining to the casino.  AR 1226.  The City also 

reserved the right to review and object to the Band’s licensing decisions.  AR 1235.  

Additionally, the 1994 Tribal-City Accord required the Band to provide the City access to any 

and all records of the gaming operation.  AR 1228. 

In 1994, following up on his previous letter, Chairman Hope informed the parties that 

there would be no enforcement action because the 1994 Agreements were now consistent with 

IGRA.  AR 325-26.  The Chairman also sent a “Report and Recommendation” to the Court 

informing it of NIGC’s position that the 1994 Agreements were consistent with IGRA.  AR 327-

28.  The Court entered its Consent Order approving the settlement of the parties based upon the 

1994 Agreements.  AR 738-43. 
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In the intervening years, NIGC’s understanding of the “sole proprietary interest” 

requirement evolved.  NIGC explicitly considered defining “sole proprietary interest” in 

regulations, but concluded that it would be best to develop its understanding of the term on a 

case by case basis.  AR 43-44; 58 Fed. Reg. 5804 (Jan. 22, 1993).  As the years went by, NIGC 

became more and more concerned that the “sole proprietary interest” mandate was not being 

respected.  AR 448.  Responding to those concerns, the NIGC Office of General Counsel began 

to focus more closely on enforcing the mandate.  Id.  Since the early 2000s, NIGC OGC has 

issued over 50 legal opinions analyzing the mandate.  AR 45.   

 In August 2009, after disagreement concerning the amount of rents paid by the Band, the 

Band ceased all payments to the City.  AR 1369-72.  At that time, the City had received over $75 

million under the 1994 Agreements.  AR 49.  The City sued the Band for breach of contract and 

to enforce the Consent Order.  City of Duluth v. Fond du Lac Band of Lake Superior Chippewa, 

708 F.Supp.2d 890 (D. Minn. 2010).  In its Answer, the Band asserted that the 1994 Agreements 

violated IGRA’s “sole proprietary interest” mandate.  AR 1444-45.  While the litigation was 

pending, the Band requested that the NIGC reexamine the 1994 Agreements.  AR 673-78.  NIGC 

Chairwoman Tracie L. Stevens thereafter requested the views of the Band and the City to aid in 

NIGC’s review.  AR 614-15.  Both the City and the Band submitted detailed briefs with a 

substantial number of exhibits.  AR 171-92; AR 556-95.   

 After over six months of deliberation, on July 12, 2011, Chairwoman Stevens issued a 

Notice of Violation (“NOV”) to the Band.  AR 33-51.  The NOV explained that the 1994 

Agreements violated IGRA’s sole proprietary interest requirement and ordered the Band to 

“cease performance under the 1994 Agreements of those provisions identified in this NOV as 

violating IGRA.”  AR 50.  The Band did not appeal the NOV.  AR 1.  The NIGC informed the 
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City that it did not have standing to appeal the NOV because the City was not the respondent.  

Id.  The Band took various curative actions, including revising the Band’s gaming regulations, to 

avoid further NIGC enforcement action.  AR 9-13. 

 Because the Band did not appeal the NOV within the 30 day appeal period, the NOV 

became final agency action.  25 C.F.R. § 573.5(a).  Thereafter, the City of Duluth brought this 

action alleging that the NIGC acted arbitrarily and capriciously and in excess of authority in 

issuing the NOV.  Dkt. 1.  The United States maintains its position that the City lacks both 

constitutional and prudential standing to bring this suit.  Dkt. 8. 

STATUTORY BACKGROUND 

 

 The Indian Gaming Regulatory Act (“IGRA”) was enacted in 1988 for three main 

purposes: 

(1) to provide a statutory basis for the operation of gaming by Indian tribes as a means of 

promoting tribal economic development, self-sufficiency, and strong tribal governments. 

 

(2) to provide a statutory basis for the regulation of gaming by an Indian tribe adequate to 

shield it from organized crime and other corrupting influences, to ensure that the Indian 

tribe is the primary beneficiary of the gaming operation, and to assure that gaming is 

conducted fairly and honestly by both the operator and players; and 

 

(3) to declare that the establishment of independent Federal regulatory authority for 

gaming on Indian lands, the establishment of Federal standards for gaming on Indian 

lands, and the establishment of a National Indian Gaming Commission are necessary to 

meet congressional concerns regarding gaming and to protect such gaming as a means of 

generating tribal revenue. 

 

25 U.S.C. § 2702.   

IGRA goes on to delineate the powers of the NIGC.  Section 2710 grants NIGC the 

authority to approve tribal gaming ordinances.  25 U.S.C. § 2710(b)(2), (d)(2)(B).  In line with 

IGRA’s purposes, the Chairman may not approve a tribal ordinance unless it provides that “the 

Indian tribe will have the sole proprietary interest and responsibility for the conduct of any 
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gaming activity.”  Id. § 2710(b)(2).  The term “sole proprietary interest” is not statutorily 

defined. 

Section 2711 provides NIGC with the authority to approve or disapprove management 

contracts.  25 U.S.C. § 2711(b),(e).  NIGC regulations define “management contract” as “any 

contract, subcontract, or collateral agreement between an Indian tribe and a contractor or 

between a contractor and a subcontractor if such contract provides for the management of all or 

part of a gaming operation.”  25 C.F.R. § 502.15.  NIGC also reviews collateral agreements to a 

management contract under Section 2711.  “Collateral agreement means any contract, whether 

or not in writing, that is related, either directly or indirectly, to a management contract, or to any 

rights, duties or obligations created between a tribe (or any of its members, entities, or 

organizations) and a management contractor or subcontractor (or any person or entity related to a 

management contractor or subcontractor).”  25 C.F.R. § 502.5. 

Section 2712 provides authority for the Chair to review tribal gaming ordinances and 

management contracts that pre-date IGRA.  25 U.S.C. § 2712(b),(c). 

Section 2713 concerns NIGC’s enforcement authority.  Section 2713(a) provides that the 

Chair has the authority to levy fines for “any violation of any provision” of IGRA.  25 U.S.C. § 

2713(a)(1).  “Whenever the Commission has reason to believe that the tribal operator of an 

Indian game” is committing a violation of IGRA, “the Commission shall provide such tribal 

operator . . . with a written complaint stating the acts or omissions which form the basis for such 

belief and the action or choice of action being considered by the Commission.”  Id. § 2713(a)(3).   

NIGC regulations provide additional detail: “The Chair may issue a notice of violation to 

any person for violations of any provision of the Act or this chapter, or of any tribal ordinance or 
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resolution approved by the Chair under part 522 of this chapter.”  25 C.F.R § 573.3(a).  The 

regulations also describe what should be included in a notice of violation: 

(1) A citation to the federal or tribal requirement that has been violated; 

(2) A description of the circumstances surrounding the violation, set forth in common and 

concise language; 

(3) Measures required to correct the violation; 

(4) A reasonable time for correction, if the respondent cannot take measures to correct the 

violation immediately; and 

(5) Notice of rights of appeal. 

 

Id. § 573.3(b). 

 

 Enforcement authority under Section 2713 is not limited to the issuance of Notices of 

Violation.  NIGC regulations provide for letters of concern: “Prior to the Chair taking an 

enforcement action, a letter of concern may be provided to the respondent by NIGC staff, 

detailing concerns regarding the respondent’s compliance with the Act . . . .”  25 C.F.R. § 

573.2(a).  Additionally, Section 2713(b) authorizes the Chair to issue an order of temporary 

closure for “substantial violation” of IGRA.  Notably, IGRA does not limit the NIGC’s 

enforcement authority to any particular type of agreement, nor does IGRA impose limitation on 

the timing of an enforcement action. 

STANDARD OF REVIEW 

 

Review of the City’s IGRA claims is governed by the standards set forth in the 

Administrative Procedure Act (“APA”), 5 U.S.C. §§ 701-706.2  Claims brought pursuant to the 

APA are reviewed and decided on summary judgment based upon the existing administrative 

record.  Fla. Power & Light Co. v. Lorion, 470 U.S. 729, 743-44 (1985).  In reviewing final 

                                                           
2 The City’s Motion states that “[r]eversal of the agency action under review is proper under 5 

U.S.C.S. § 706(2)(A)(C)(E)(F).”  The City’s Complaint invokes 5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(A),(C) as 

causes of action, but fails to identify 5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(E),(F) as causes of action.  Nor does the 

City’s Memorandum in Support of its Motion put forth any arguments in support of reversal 

under 5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(E),(F).  For these reasons, the United States’ Memorandum in 

Opposition addresses solely the City’s claims under 5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(A),(C). 
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agency action under the APA, “the standard [for summary judgment] set forth in Rule 56(c) does 

not apply because of the limited role of a court in reviewing the administrative record.” Pub. 

Employees for Envtl. Responsibility v. DOI, 832 F. Supp. 2d 5, 15 (D.D.C. 2011).   

Under the APA, the Court must set aside agency actions that are in excess of the agency's 

statutory jurisdiction, authority, or limitations.  5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(C).  The APA also establishes 

a narrow and highly deferential standard of review limited to a determination of whether the 

agency acted in a manner that was “arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of discretion, or otherwise not 

in accordance with law.” 5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(A); see Citizens to Preserve Overton Park v. Volpe, 

401 U.S. 402, 416 (1971); Orion Reserves Ltd. P’ship v. Salazar, 553 F.3d 697, 703-704 (D.C. 

Cir. 2009).  This standard requires that the agency must “examine the relevant data and articulate 

a satisfactory explanation for its action including a rational connection between the facts found 

and the choice made.” Motor Vehicle Mfrs. Ass’n of U.S., Inc. v, State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. 

Co., 463 U.S. 29, 43 (1983) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted).  

This Circuit has repeatedly observed that "judicial reliance on an agency's stated rationale 

and findings is central to a harmonious relationship between agency and court, one which 

recognizes that the agency and not the court is the principal decision-maker.”  San Luis Obispo 

Mothers for Peace v. NRC, 751 F.2d 1287, 1325-26 (D.C. Cir. 1984), rev'd en banc on other 

grounds, 789 F.2d 26 (D.C. Cir. 1986).  Thus, a decisionmaker’s motivation does not factor into 

the court’s analysis.  In re Subpoena Duces Tecum Served on Office of Comptroller of Currency, 

156 F.3d 1279, 1279-80 (D.C. Cir. 1998) (“the actual subjective motivation of agency 

decisionmakers is immaterial as a matter of law—unless there is a showing of bad faith or 

improper behavior.”); Styrene Info. & Research Ctr. v Sebelius, 944 F. Supp. 2d 71, 85 (D.D.C. 

2013).  And while courts may require “a more detailed justification” when an agency deviates 
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from a previous course of action, FCC v. Fox Television Stations, Inc., 556 U.S. 502, 129 S.Ct. 

1800, 1811 (2009), it remains Plaintiff’s burden to prove that the agency’s decision was arbitrary 

and capricious. State Farm, 463 U.S. at 43. 

ARGUMENT 

 The City manages to argue its entire brief without citation to the key provision of IGRA 

at issue in this case: Section 2713.  See 25 U.S.C. § 2713.  Yet in the NOV, the NIGC clearly 

traces its authority to this section of IGRA.  AR 35.  Instead of addressing Section 2713, the City 

argues that neither Sections 2711 nor 2712 provides NIGC with authority, concluding that NIGC 

acted ultra vires.  To the contrary, Congress has delegated to the NIGC the authority to enforce 

the pertinent provisions of IGRA.  The NIGC acted properly under this enforcement authority in 

1994 when it reviewed the 1994 Agreements.  In 2010, the NIGC also acted properly under its 

enforcement authority when it reviewed the 1994 Agreements for the second time.  In the 

intervening years, the NIGC’s interpretation of the “sole proprietary interest” requirement 

evolved.  In light of that experience, the agency issued a NOV concluding that certain provisions 

of the 1994 Agreements did not comply with IGRA.  NIGC had the authority to issue the NOV. 

Moreover, the NIGC’s  reasons for issuing the NOV were neither arbitrary nor 

capricious.  An agency is entitled to change its interpretation of an ambiguous statutory 

provision, whether because of experience or because of a change in administration.  The NOV 

applies a permissible construction of the “sole proprietary interest” requirement.  Moreover, 

there was nothing improper about communications between the NIGC and the Band. 

 The City characterizes the NOV as a retroactive rulemaking or a retroactive reversal.  In 

reality, the NOV is prospective.  It directs the Band to cease future performance of the provisions 

of the 1994 Agreements that violate IGRA.  The NOV does not announce a new rule of law.  
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NIGC’s development of the “sole proprietary interest” requirement can be discerned in the 

opinions and enforcement actions available on its website.  The NOV was merely the next step in 

the application of the requirement. 

 Even if the NOV were interpreted to be retroactive, it is not impermissibly so.  The City 

did not detrimentally rely on the 1994 Letter.  Nor could any reliance by the City be considered 

reasonable.  In addition, the statutory interest in enforcing the NOV is great.  In the absence of 

reasonable detrimental reliance, and in the presence of a strong statutory interest, a rule may be 

applied in the case in which it arises. 

 The NIGC did not act ultra vires; nor did the NIGC act arbitrarily and capriciously.  For 

these reasons, the Court should uphold the NOV. 

A. The NIGC Is Entitled to Chevron Deference 

 

IGRA does not define the term “sole proprietary interest.”  The term is ambiguous, so the 

National Indian Gaming Commission’s (“NIGC”) Notice of Violation (“NOV”) based on its 

interpretation of that term should be reviewed under Chevron deference.  NIGC’s authority to 

issue the NOV is clear, but to the extent the court views that authority as ambiguous, an agency’s 

interpretation of its authority is also entitled to Chevron deference.   

 The NIGC is entitled to deference regarding its interpretation of “sole proprietary 

interest” set out in the NOV.  See Chevron U.S.A. Inc. v. NRDC, 467 U.S. 837, 842-43 (1984); 

Citizens Against Casino Gambling in Erie County v. Kempthorne, 471 F.Supp.2d 295, 321 

(W.D.N.Y. 2007) [hereinafter CACGEC].  Chevron stands for the principle “that considerable 

weight should be accorded to an executive department’s construction of a statutory scheme it is 

entrusted to administer . . . .”  467 U.S. at 844.  Here, the National Indian Gaming Commission is 

the agency charged with administering the Indian Gaming Regulatory Act.  25 U.S.C. §§ 
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2702(3), 2704; see also CACGEC, 471 F. Supp. 2d at 321 (“In enacting the IGRA, Congress 

established the NIGC as an independent agency charged with exclusive regulatory authority for 

Indian gaming on Indian lands.”).  Indeed, “NIGC is charged with, among other things, 

‘promulgat[ing] such regulations and guidelines as it deems appropriate to implement the 

provisions’ of IGRA and, by implication, has primary authority to interpret any ambiguous 

phrases or terms contained in the IGRA.”  Id. at 322 (quoting 25 U.S.C. § 2706(b)(10)).  In 

addition, Congress delegated to the NIGC the power to bring enforcement actions for “any 

violation of any provision of this chapter.”  25 U.S.C. § 2713(a)(1) (emphasis added).  Given 

these explicit grants of regulatory power and enforcement power, there can be no doubt that 

Congress intended the NIGC to fill any gaps in IGRA’s statutory scheme. 

Congress chose not to define the term “sole proprietary interest,” leaving a gap for the 

NIGC to fill.  As Chevron teaches, “if the statute is silent or ambiguous with respect to the 

specific issue, the question for the court is whether the agency’s answer is based on a permissible 

construction of the statute.”  467 U.S. at 843.  NIGC has opted not to define “sole proprietary 

interest” in its own regulations, but to develop its understanding of the term on a case-by-case 

basis.  AR43-44; 58 Fed. Reg. 5804 (Jan. 22, 1993). 

The City argues that the NOV should not be given Chevron deference under Christensen 

v. Harris County, 529 U.S. 576, 587 (2000), because “interpretations contained in an opinion 

letter . . . like interpretations contained in policy statements, agency manuals, and enforcement 

guidelines, all of which lack the force of law—do not warrant Chevron-style deference.”  Mem. 

at 24.  The City cites to additional cases that declined to give Chevron deference to opinion 

letters, informal pronouncements, and advisory opinions of the NIGC.  Mem. at 24.  What the 

City fails to recognize is that the NOV is not an opinion letter, advisory opinion, policy 
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statement, agency manual, or enforcement guideline.  “Christensen is not controlling . . . ” where 

an agency determination pursuant to IGRA has the force of law.  Citizens Exposing Truth About 

Casinos v. Kempthorne, 492 F.3d 460, 466 (D.C. Cir. 2007) [hereinafter CETAC]. 

The Notice of Violation is due Chevron deference because it carries the force of law.  See 

United States v. Mead Corp., 533 U.S. 218, 226-27 (2001); CETAC, 492 F.3d at 466.  In Mead, 

the Court considered whether a U.S. Customs ruling letter setting a tariff classification should be 

afforded Chevron deference.  The Court noted that “[m]ost ruling letters contain little or no 

reasoning,” and that “no other person should rely on the ruling letter or assume that the 

principles of that ruling will be applied in connection with any transaction other than the one 

described in the letter.”  533 U.S. at 223-24.  In addition, the Court highlighted that 10,000 to 

15,000 tariff classifications are issued each year by 46 different Customs offices.  Id. at 233.  In 

denying Chevron deference, the Court indicated that “the terms of the congressional delegation 

give no indication that Congress meant to delegate authority to Customs to issue classification 

rulings with the force of law.”  Id. at 231-32. 

None of the concerns present in Mead are present here.  Unlike the brief ruling letters, the 

NOV is a detailed and thorough explanation of the reasons for instituting an enforcement action.  

See AR 33-51.  While it is directed solely at the Band, NIGC has developed its “sole proprietary 

interest” analysis on a case-by-case basis and published its decisions online to guide those 

engaged in Indian gaming.3  The NIGC is the sole office and agency that issues these types of 

NOVs, and only a handful are issued each year.  Finally, as discussed above, Congress explicitly 

                                                           
3 National Indian Gaming Commission Reading Room: Sole-Proprietary-Interest Letters, 

http://www.nigc.gov/Reading_Room/Sole-Proprietary-Interest-Letters.aspx (last visited July 24, 

2014); National Indian Gaming Commission Reading Room: Enforcement Actions, 

http://www.nigc.gov/Reading_Room/Enforcement_Actions.aspx (last visited July 24, 2014). 
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delegated the authority to NIGC to engage in enforcement actions.  See generally 25 U.S.C. § 

2713. 

An enforcement action, by its very nature, carries the force of law.  Accordingly, the 

NOV is a final agency action.  25 U.S.C. § 2714; 25 C.F.R. § 573.5(a).  It is an action “by which 

rights or obligations have been determined, or from which legal consequences will flow.”  

Bennett v. Spear, 520 U.S. 154, 177-78 (1997) (internal citations omitted).  The NOV directs the 

Band to “cease performance under the 1994 Agreements of those provisions identified in this 

NOV as violating IGRA.”  AR 50.  If the Band does not comply, 4 the NIGC is authorized to 

assess a civil fine or issue an order of temporary closure.  25 U.S.C. §§ 2713(a)(1), (b)(1); AR 

51.  Thus, the NOV “qualifies for Chevron deference [because] it appears that Congress 

delegated authority to the agency generally to make rules carrying the force of law . . . .”  Mead, 

533 U.S. at 226-27.5 

The City also challenges the NIGC’s authority to issue the NOV.  Unlike the ambiguity 

of the term “sole proprietary interest,” the NIGC’s authority to engage in enforcement actions is 

clear.  Section 2713(a)(3) of IGRA provides that the NIGC “shall” issue a complaint “whenever” 

it has reason to believe a tribal gaming facility is operating in violation of IGRA.  The NIGC 

                                                           
4 As further evidence that the NOV carries the force of law, the U.S. Attorney General is 

authorized to seek a civil injunction against a noncompliant target of an NIGC enforcement 

action.  See United States v. Santee Sioux Tribe of Nebraska, 135 F.3d 558, 562 (8th Cir. 1998) 

(“We cannot imagine that Congress intended to vest in the Chairman and the NIGC the power to 

assess fines against the tribal operators of the facilities and to order temporary closures of Indian 

gaming facilities operating in violation of the IGRA without providing for a means to ensure 

compliance with those decisions.”). 
 
5 Additionally, the Eighth Circuit has held that this very NOV qualifies as a change in law 

sufficient for relief under Fed. R. Civ. Pro. 60(b).  City of Duluth v. NIGC, 2013 WL 6654079, 

at *6 (D.D.C. Dec. 18, 2013) (citing City of Duluth v. Fond du Lac Band of Lake Superior 

Chippewa, 702 F.3d 1147, 1153 (8th Cir. 2013) (“We agree with the district court that a binding 

adjudication by a federal agency, which has been tasked with interpreting and enforcing a statute 

enacted by Congress, represents a change in law for the purposes of Rule 60(b).”)). 
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properly asserts this authority in the NOV: “Under IGRA and NIGC regulations, the 

Chairwoman may issue a NOV to any person for violation of any provision of the IGRA, NIGC 

regulations, or an approved tribal gaming ordinance or resolution.”  AR 35 (citing 25 U.S.C. § 

2713(a); 25 C.F.R. § 573.3(a)).  To the extent that the NIGC’s authority to issue the NOV 

remains in question, the NIGC’s finding that it possesses such authority is entitled to Chevron 

deference.  City of Arlington v. FCC, 133 S.Ct. 1863, 1871 (2013) (“the question in every case 

is, simply, whether the statutory text forecloses the agency’s assertion of authority or not.”).  

In sum, because the term “sole proprietary interest” is ambiguous, the NOV should be 

reviewed under Chevron deference.  NIGC’s authority to issue the NOV is clear, but to the 

extent the court views that authority as ambiguous, an agency’s interpretation of its authority is 

also entitled to Chevron deference.6 

B. The NIGC Has the Statutory Authority to Issue Enforcement Actions 

 

The City argues that NIGC did not have authority to review the 1994 Agreements under 

Section 2711 because it is neither a management contract nor a collateral agreement to a 

management contract.  Mem. at 25.  The City also argues that NIGC acted ultra vires because the 

Chair did not have the authority to act under Section 2712.  Mem. at 27-34.  Additionally, the 

City argues that “IGRA does not provide the NIGC with authority to initiate a new review of 

agreements and disapprove what was previously authorized.”  Mem. at 35.7  These arguments 

miss the proverbial boat.  All of NIGC’s actions with regard to the 1994 Agreements have been 

conducted pursuant to its congressionally delegated enforcement power under Section 2713.  See 

25 U.S.C. § 2713; 25 C.F.R Part 573. 

                                                           
6 In the alternative, NIGC is entitled to deference under Skidmore v. Swift, 323 U.S. 134 (1944). 

 
7 The City’s Complaint does not allege that NIGC “approved” or “disapproved” the 1986 

Agreements or the 1994 Agreements.  Compl. ¶ 18, 23. 
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1. The Notice of Violation Was Properly Issued Under NIGC’s Section 2713  

  Enforcement Authority 

 

As was noted in the NOV, “[t]he NIGC is the agency Congress charged with enforcing 

the provisions of IGRA and approved tribal ordinances.  25 U.S.C. § 2713.  Therefore, [the 

Chair] may appropriately exercise [her] enforcement discretion regarding these violations.”  AR 

43.  The Notice of Violation was properly issued under Section 2713 and does not invoke 

authority under Sections 2711 or 2712. 

The 1994 Agreements, and the 1986 Agreements before them, are unique agreements not 

contemplated by IGRA.  See AR43 (“since the NIGC’s inception, neither the NIGC Chair nor 

the Commission has approved any agreement, management or otherwise, under terms similar to 

the 1994 Agreements.”).  To be sure, the 1986 Agreements predate IGRA, and as the NOV 

notes, many of the provisions of the 1986 Agreements were carried forward into the 1994 

Agreements.  AR 37.  But the Agreements are not management contracts, nor collateral 

agreements to a management contract, nor a tribal ordinance, nor a tribal-state compact.8  See 

AR 43.  The City is not a contractor, nor a tribe, nor a State. 

Nevertheless, NIGC is authorized to issue a NOV for any violation of IGRA, 25 U.S.C. § 

2713, 25 C.F.R Part 573, and it properly did so here.  NIGC’s enforcement authority is not 

limited to any particular type of agreement.  Congress delegated to NIGC the authority to enforce 

against any violation of IGRA, in whatever form.  The NOV does not purport to review the 1994 

Agreements as any particular kind of agreement.  Likewise, the NOV does not “disapprove” the 

1994 Agreements, nor does it reverse any previous “approval.”  Instead, the NOV simply 

                                                           
8 See definitions of management contract and collateral agreement supra at Statutory Background 

(Page 5).  “Tribal-State compact means an agreement between a tribe and a state about class III 

gaming under 25 U.S.C. 2710(d).” 25 CFR § 502.21. 
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identifies the provisions of the 1994 Agreements that violate IGRA and threatens enforcement 

actions under Section 2713 in the event of non-compliance.  AR 47-51. 

 2. Initial Review of the 1994 Agreements Was Properly Conducted Under  

  NIGC’s Section 2713 Enforcement Authority 

 

 Prior to the NOV, the NIGC offered its views of the 1986 Agreements and 1994 

Agreements in three separate documents.  First, at the behest of the Band and City, NIGC 

reviewed the 1986 Agreements.  AR 36, 285.  Chairman Anthony Hope wrote to Band Chairman 

Robert Peacock and Mayor Gary Doty on September 24, 1993, concluding that “the current 

operation of the casino violates the Indian Gaming Regulatory Act.”  AR 285-87 [hereinafter 

1993 Letter].  Importantly, Chairman Hope noted that NIGC “will defer the commencement of 

any enforcement action for a period of 30 days to permit the parties an opportunity to negotiate.”  

AR 287.  This language confirms that Chairman Hope was acting under his enforcement 

authority. 

 Following the negotiation of a settlement agreement, the Band and the City again 

submitted the agreements for review.  AR 37.  NIGC Chairman Hope wrote to Band Chairman 

Robert Peacock and Mayor Gary Doty on June 16, 1994, concluding that the settlement 

incorporating the 1994 Agreements “returns full ownership and control of the Fond du Luth 

Casino to the Band and is consistent with the requirements of IGRA.”  AR 325 [hereinafter 1994 

Letter].  The letter additionally notes that “the finalization of this settlement agreement will make 

it unnecessary for the NIGC to initiate an enforcement action to bring the Fond du Luth Casino 

into compliance with IGRA.”  Id.  Again, this language confirms that Chairman Hope was acting 

under his enforcement authority. 

 Nothing in these letters suggests that NIGC purported to review them as management 

contracts, or as collateral agreements to management contracts, under Section 2711.  Nowhere in 
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the letters does the Chairman use the language of “approval” or “disapproval.”9  The letters do 

not attempt to void or terminate the agreements; they only speak of consistency with IGRA.  

Indeed, because the 1986 Agreements and the 1994 Agreements are not management contracts, 

the NIGC would not have had the authority to approve or disapprove them.  AR 43. 

Nor does anything in the letters suggest that NIGC purported to review the agreements 

under Section 2712.  Indeed, Section 2712 allows for review of pre-IGRA management 

contracts.  25 U.S.C. § 2712(c).  Because the 1986 Agreements are not a management contract, 

review could not have been conducted pursuant to Section 2712.  The City does not disagree.  

The City argues here, Mem. at 25-26, as do we, that neither the 1986 Agreements nor the 1994 

Agreements are management contracts or collateral agreements.10 

The City argues that the NIGC “approved” the 1994 Agreements in the 1994 Letter.  See, 

e.g., Mem. at 2 ¶1.  However, the 1994 Letter speaks of enforcement only and is properly 

characterized as an advisory opinion.  Since its inception through the present, the NIGC has 

issued opinion letters to advise parties whether particular agreements are consistent with IGRA.  

AR 45 (“since 2003 the OGC has issued over 50 legal opinions analyzing the [sole proprietary 

interest] mandate.”).  Indeed, that is exactly what Chairman Hope did in the 1994 Letter; he 

                                                           
9 By contrast, the NIGC explicitly approved the Band’s gaming ordinance on September 23, 

1993: “This letter responds to your request to review and approve the tribal gaming ordinance, 

Ordinance # 09/93 . . . .  This letter constitutes such approval under the Indian Gaming 

Regulatory Act.”  AR 236-37 (emphasis added). 

 
10 In the 1989 litigation before the District Court of Minnesota, the City argued that the Band’s 

suit should be dismissed because the NIGC should have the opportunity to review the 1986 

Agreements under Section 2712.  AR 705-6.  The district court alluded that NIGC could review 

the 1986 Agreements under Section 2712.  AR 714.  The City appears to argue that, 

consequently, the NIGC’s review was conducted under that section.  Mem. at 30.  However, as 

noted in the NOV, NIGC was not a party to that action and could not be bound by that court.  AR 

37.  Further, the district court referred to the 1986 Agreements as a “collateral agreement.”  AR 

714.  The court was mistaken, and the City does not disagree, as noted above. 
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advised the parties that the 1994 Agreements were consistent with IGRA.  AR 325.  As an 

advisory opinion, the 1994 Letter was not final agency action.  See 25 U.S.C. § 2714. 

The third document in which NIGC offered its views was the Report and 

Recommendation to Judge Magnuson of the United States District Court for the District of 

Minnesota.  AR 327-28.  The NIGC did not write this report of its own accord; the district court 

specifically requested the report and recommendation.  AR 327, AR 715.  Like the letters, the 

report does not suggest that NIGC purported to review the agreements as management contracts 

under Section 2711 or Section 2712.  In writing this report, Chairman Hope was not the one  

“approving” the 1994 Agreements; he recommends that the court approve the settlement 

agreement.  AR 328. 

The City characterizes the NIGC’s actions in 1994 as a “prior approval” of the 1994 

Agreements.  To the contrary, the NIGC issued an advisory opinion and a report.  The advisory 

opinion noted consistency with IGRA and declined to initiate an enforcement action.  The report 

noted consistency with IGRA, and was provided pursuant to court order.  Both of these actions 

were properly conducted under NIGC’s enforcement authority.  None constituted a final agency 

action, 25 C.F.R. § 573.2(b), and therefore could not be considered formal agency approval.  AR 

43. 

C. The NOV is Not Arbitrary & Capricious 

 

 Although the City alleges that the Chairwoman acted arbitrarily and capriciously in 

issuing the NOV under 5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(A), the City’s brief focuses on the bounds of the 

Chairwoman’s authority under 5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(C).  To the extent the City’s arguments can be 

construed as addressing the arbitrariness or capriciousness of the NOV, the NIGC responds as 

follows. 
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 1. NIGC Is Entitled to Change Its Interpretation 

  

The NIGC’s interpretation of the “sole proprietary interest” mandate has evolved over the 

years.  IGRA does not define the term “sole proprietary interest,” leaving NIGC a gap to fill.  

NIGC has opted to not define “sole proprietary interest” in its own regulations, but to develop its 

understanding of the term on a case-by-case basis.  AR 43-44; 58 Fed. Reg. 5804 (Jan. 22, 1993). 

Indeed, the NIGC Office of General Counsel has issued over 50 legal opinions analyzing the 

mandate.  AR 45.  These opinions examine “1) the term of the relationship; 2) the amount of 

revenue paid to the third party; and 3) the right of control over the gaming activity provided to 

the third party.”  Id.  NIGC’s evolving interpretation of “sole proprietary interest” is entitled to 

Chevron deference. 

In this case, the City appears to argue that the NIGC may never change its mind—that its 

interpretation is not permitted to evolve.  But an agency “is not estopped from changing a view 

[it] believes to have been grounded upon a mistaken legal interpretation.” Good Samaritan Hosp. 

v. Shalala, 508 U.S. 402, 417 (1993); see also Chisholm v. FCC, 538 F.2d 349, 364 (D.C. Cir. 

1976) (“an administrative agency is permitted to change its interpretation of a statute, especially 

where the prior interpretation is based on error, no matter how longstanding.”)).  In this case, the 

NIGC acknowledges that the previous interpretation was not sound.  AR 37 (“Chairman Hope’s 

decision not to initiate an enforcement action is inconsistent with his 1993 letter given that the 

1994 Agreements contain many ‘carried forward’ provisions that are substantively identical to 

the 1986 Agreements.”).  The NOV highlights the fact that Chairman Hope engaged in no 

written analysis as to why the 1994 Agreements were consistent with IGRA.  Id. (“The letter 

contained . . . no supporting analysis.”).  The NOV also points out that any review of the 1994 

Agreements was likely to have been cursory, given the fact that the Chairman sent his letter a 
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mere three days after receiving the revised agreements.  Id.  In contrast, the NOV spends 19 

pages analyzing the problem, AR 33-51, and was the result of over six months of review, 

including analysis of submissions by both the City and the Band.  See AR 145; AR 554 (briefs of 

City and Band submitted to NIGC on November 19, 2010). 

Further, the City’s apparent position that the NIGC may never change its mind is 

foreclosed by IGRA.  Section 2713 confers upon NIGC the authority to initiate an enforcement 

action “whenever” it finds a violation of IGRA.  The statute does not say NIGC can initiate an 

enforcement action as long as it has not previously spoken on the issue.  It does not say NIGC 

may initiate an enforcement action as long as the NIGC has maintained a consistent position.  

The City’s argument, if accepted, would have that effect, and NIGC will be hamstrung in its 

enforcement efforts.  Congress did not intend this result.  See Bd. of Comm’rs of Cherokee 

County v. Jewell, 956 F. Supp. 2d 116, 125 (D.D.C. 2013) (finding that discretion for civil 

enforcement of the IGRA is committed to the NIGC). 

 The City also suggests that the Court must hold NIGC to a higher standard because it 

changed its interpretation of the “sole proprietary interest” requirement between 1994 and 2011.  

As this Court has recognized, however, “the [APA] makes no distinction . . . between initial 

agency action and subsequent agency action undoing or revising that action.”  City of Duluth v. 

Jewell, 968 F. Supp. 2d 281, 292 (D.D.C. 2013) (quoting FCC v. Fox Television Stations, Inc., 

556 U.S. 502, 515 (2009)).  Certainly, the NIGC “must provide a reasoned explanation for the 

change.” C&W Fish Co. v. Fox, 931 F.2d 1556, 1561 (D.C. Cir. 1991).  However, the Supreme 

Court has “neither held nor implied that every agency action representing a policy change must 

be justified by reasons more substantial than those required to adopt a policy in the first 

instance.”  Fox Television, 556 U.S. at 514.  Nor must the change be based on “new data or 
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experience.”  Nat'l Ass'n of Home Builders v. EPA, 682 F.3d 1032, 1037 (D.C. Cir. 2012).  An 

agency's “reevaluation of which policy would be better in light of the facts” is “well within the 

agency's discretion.”  Id. at 1038.  An agency “need not demonstrate to a court's satisfaction that 

the reasons for the new policy are better than the reasons for the old one; it suffices that the new 

policy is permissible under the statute, that there are good reasons for it, and that the agency 

believes it to be better, which the conscious change of course adequately indicates.”  Fox 

Television, 556 U.S. at 515. 

 For example, in Home Builders, the D.C. Circuit upheld the EPA’s reversal of position 

regarding remodeling activities involving lead paint.  682 F.3d at 1034.  In 2008, EPA issued a 

rule that exempted “owner-occupied” housing from certain lead paint abatement requirements if 

the homeowner certified that no pregnant women or young children lived there.  Id. at 1035.  In 

2010, EPA amended the rule to eliminate this exemption.  Id.  EPA explained that the revised 

rule promoted to a greater extent the statutory directives from Congress.  Id. at 1036.  The court 

upheld the new rule because the agency’s 2010 interpretation was a permissible construction of 

the statute and because the agency displayed awareness that it was changing its position.  Id. at 

1037-38.  The Court rejected the argument that EPA could not change its position without a 

change in facts.  Id. (citing Motor Vehicle Mfrs. Ass'n of U.S., Inc. v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. 

Co., 463 U.S. 29, 57 (1983) (“[a]n agency’s view of what is in the public interest may change, 

either with or without a change in circumstances.”). 

 Here, contrary to the City’s central argument, it was entirely proper and usual for the 

NIGC, like any other agency, to “consider varying interpretations and the wisdom of its policy 

on a continuing basis . . . in response to changed factual circumstances, or a change in 

administrations.”  Nat'l Cable & Telecomms. Ass'n v. Brand X Internet Servs., 545 U.S. 967, 981 
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(2005) (citations omitted).  As noted in Fox Television, the NOV explicitly acknowledges that 

the NIGC is changing its position as to the 1994 Agreements and explains that “[t]his notice of 

violation is not issued lightly.”  AR 33.  The NOV also explains that this change in position is 

not abrupt, but has developed over the course of the agency’s existence.  AR 45.  Like in Home 

Builders, the agency’s understanding of what is in the public interest has changed.  Not only is 

the NIGC entitled to change its mind, but the NIGC should not be held to a higher standard 

because of its evolution in understanding. 

 2. NIGC Properly Rejected the City’s Comparison of the 1994 Agreements to a  

  Tribal-State Compact 

 

 As noted, the 1994 Agreements are a set of unique agreements not contemplated by 

IGRA.  They are not management contracts or collateral agreements to a management contract 

and so are not governed by 25 U.S.C. § 2711.  They are not a tribal-state compact and so are not 

governed by 25 U.S.C. §§ 2710(d)(3)-(d)(8).  However, the agreements are governed by the 

“sole proprietary interest” mandate.11  As discussed supra at Part C.1, NIGC’s understanding of 

“sole proprietary interest” has developed on a case-by-case basis and is entitled to deference.  

The NOV refers to enforcement actions and advisory opinions concerning management contracts 

because that has been the primary context in which the agency’s expertise has developed.  In 

addition, comparison to certain previously reviewed management contracts is particularly apt 

because, like the 1994 Agreements, those contracts “provide for rental payments based on a 

percentage of gaming revenue.”  AR 45.  The NOV does not refer to many tribal-state compacts, 

however, because while they too must comply with the “sole proprietary interest” requirement, 

                                                           
11 IGRA requires that every tribal gaming ordinance provide that the tribe retain the “sole 

proprietary interest” in gaming.  25 U.S.C. § 2710(b)(2)(A).  Failure to comply with any 

provision of an approved tribal gaming ordinance is grounds for issuance of an NOV.  25 C.F.R. 

§ 573.3(a). 
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tribal-state compacts are also governed by their own set of statutory and regulatory provisions 

not applicable here.   

For example, Class III gaming cannot occur in a state until a tribal-state compact has 

been approved by the Secretary of the Interior.  25 C.F.R. § 292.23.  States are required to 

negotiate tribal-state compacts in good faith.  25 U.S.C. § 2710(d)(3)(A).  States are prohibited 

from imposing taxes, fees, charges, or other assessments on Indian tribes engaged in certain 

gaming activities.  25 U.S.C. § 2710(d)(4).  IGRA and its implementing regulations thus place 

specific rights and responsibilities on States.  By contrast, IGRA and its implementing 

regulations place no specific rights and responsibilities on municipalities.  The only provision 

that mentions municipalities provides that net gaming revenues may be used “to help fund 

operations of local government agencies.”  25 U.S.C. § 2710(b)(2)(B)(v).   

 The City, characterizing itself as a government, contends that all government-to-

government agreements should be treated under IGRA as tribal-state compacts.  While the City 

is a government, it is not a State government.  “A city cannot step into a state’s shoes for 

purposes of a compact, as it simply lacks the authority to do so.”  AR 42.  

 Similarly, the City relies on the affidavit of Alan Meister to attack the NIGC’s analysis of 

the share of revenue, term, access to records, and controls on gaming regulation.  Mem. at 40-42.  

However, the affidavit analyzes tribal-state compacts only.  Meister did not review management 

contracts or municipal service contracts.12  The Meister Affidavit is fatally flawed in this respect.  

The NOV considers the City’s arguments with regard to the Meister Affidavit and rejects them 

for the very reasons discussed here.  AR 42-43. 

 

                                                           
12 For a brief discussion of municipal service agreements, see footnote 22. 
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 3. NIGC’s Communications with the Band Do Not Render the NOV Arbitrary  

  and Capricious 

 

 The City insinuates that the NIGC was influenced by “ex parte” contacts between the 

Band and NIGC in 2010.  Mem. at 34.  This accusation is easily dismissed.  First, NIGC has a 

trust responsibility to tribes and therefore engages in regular consultation and communication 

with tribes.  See, e.g., Exec. Order No. 13,175, 65 Fed. Reg. 67,249 (Nov. 6, 2000).  Second, 

agency actions are entitled to a presumption of regularity.  Allina Health Sys. v. Sebelius, 982 F. 

Supp. 2d 1, 6 (D.D.C. 2013) (citing Citizens to Preserve Overton Park, Inc. v. Volpe, 401 U.S. 

402, 415-16 (1971)).  Third, the APA prohibits ex parte communications in the context of formal 

adjudications, 5 U.S.C. § 554(c), but no such prohibition exists for informal adjudications or 

rulemaking.  See 5 U.S.C. § 557(a),(d) (stating that the prohibition on ex parte contacts applies 

“when a hearing is required to be conducted in accordance with section 556”); id. § 556 

(governing formal hearings).  Finally, “the actual subjective motivation of agency 

decisionmakers is immaterial as a matter of law—unless there is a showing of bad faith or 

improper behavior.”  In re Subpoena Duces Tecum Served on Office of Comptroller of 

Currency, 156 F.3d 1279, 1279-80 (D.C. Cir. 1998).  Here, the agency thoroughly laid out its 

reasoning in the NOV, an informal adjudication, and the City neither alleges nor has made a 

showing of bad faith on the part of NIGC. 

4. NIGC’s Conclusion that the 1994 Agreements Violate IGRA Is Neither 

Arbitrary Nor Capricious 

 

 To survive arbitrary and capricious review under the APA, an agency must “examine the 

relevant data and articulate a satisfactory explanation for its action including a rational 

connection between the facts found and the choice made.” Motor Vehicle Mfrs. Ass’n of U.S., 

Inc. v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., 463 U.S. 29, 43 (1983) (internal quotation marks and 
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citation omitted).  Here, the NIGC received extensive submissions from the Band and the City.  

Over a period of more than six months, the agency considered those materials and drafted its 

lengthy and detailed Notice of Violation. 

 At the outset, the NOV explains that the NIGC analyzes the “sole proprietary interest” 

mandate on the basis of three factors: “1) the term of the relationship; 2) the amount of revenue 

paid to the third party; and 3) the right of control provided to the third party over the gaming 

activity.”  AR 34.  With regard to the term of the agreements, the agreements essentially 

provided for a 25-year term with an automatic 25-year renewal.  AR 39; AR 1146-47.  NIGC’s 

previous analyses indicate that a long term is a factor tending to show that the tribe does not 

retain the sole proprietary interest for the gaming activity.  A term of ten years was deemed 

problematic in two of the example agreements cited.  AR 45-46.  Thus, the 50-year term of the 

1994 Agreements was a factor tending to show violation of the “sole proprietary interest” 

requirement. 

 With regard to compensation, the 1994 Agreements provide for 19% of gross revenues 

from video games of chance, or approximately one third of net revenues.  AR 1149.  In its 

previous analyses, the NIGC concluded that a high percentage of net revenue is a factor that 

shows the tribe does not retain the “sole proprietary interest.”  NIGC cites to three specific 

agreements previously disapproved: a tribal-state compact with compensation of 15.5% of net 

revenues, AR 42, a management agreement providing compensation of 35% of net revenues, AR 

45, and a management agreement providing for compensation of 16% of gross revenues.  AR 46.  

It is little wonder that the high percentage of gaming revenues here is a factor tending to show 

violation of the “sole proprietary interest” requirement. 
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 With regard to control over the gaming operation, the 1994 Agreements grant the City the 

power to review and consent to any changes to the Band’s gaming ordinance and regulations.  

AR 1226.  The City also has the right to review and object to the Band’s licensing decisions.  AR 

1235.  And the Tribal City Accord requires the Band to provide the City access to any and all 

records of the gaming operation.  AR 1228.  The NOV notes that “[o]ne of the primary purposes 

of IGRA is to provide a statutory basis for tribes to regulate their own gaming activity.”  AR 40 

(citing 25 U.S.C. § 2702(2)).  The incidents of control described above interfere with the Band’s 

ability to regulate its gaming activity and violate the “sole proprietary interest” requirement. 

 In the past, NIGC has found these factors may be mitigated if the non-tribal party 

assumes risk or provides services.  AR 46; cf. AR 42 (“Interior has approved some compacts that 

provide for a share of net revenue if the State provides an on-going tangible benefit such as 

exclusivity from non-Indian gaming.”).  Here, the NIGC did not find that the City’s assumed 

risks or services justified the high level of compensation, long term, and rights of control and 

access.  For example, the NIGC rejected the idea that the City’s support of the Band’s land-into-

trust application was a “tangible economic benefit justifying a share of gaming revenue.”  AR 

42.  Additionally, the City provided the casino with the same level of services that any other 

business would receive.  AR 39.  Finally, the NIGC questioned the value of the City’s 

exclusivity agreement.13  AR 42. 

 In sum, “[s]ince the NIGC’s inception, neither the NIGC Chair nor the Commission has 

approved any agreement, management, or otherwise, under terms similar to the agreements at 

                                                           
13 The City argues that there are tribal governments with whom Duluth could partner located 183 

miles and 209 miles from Duluth and alleges that such tribes “could seek to establish trust lands 

in Duluth and engage in gaming.”  Mem. at 44.  However, the Chair questioned the value of the 

exclusivity agreement because “[n]o other federally recognized Tribe has lands eligible for 

gaming within 250 miles of the Duluth City Hall . . . .”  AR 49 (emphasis added).  It was the lack 

of current trust lands that led the Chair to discount the value of the exclusivity agreement.   
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issue here.”  AR 34.  It was not arbitrary and capricious for the Chair to conclude that the 1994 

Agreements violate IGRA. 

D. The NOV is Neither a “Retroactive Reversal” Nor a Retroactive Rule 

 

 Having dispensed with the City’s arguments regarding NIGC’s authority and the validity 

of the NOV, we now turn to the City’s attempts to characterize the NOV as “retroactive.”  The 

NOV is prospective only.  Consequently, the NOV is not governed by Bowen v. Georgetown 

University Hospital, 488 U.S. 204 (1988), or Retail, Wholesale & Department Store Union v. 

NLRB, 466 F.2d 380 (D.C. Cir. 1972). 

 1. The NOV is Not a Regulation 

 

 We begin with the uncontroversial statement that the NOV is not a regulation.  The NOV 

is the product of informal agency adjudication. 

The City attempts to make much of Bowen.  That case dealt with the authority of the 

Department of Health & Human Services to apply a regulation promulgated in 1984 to conduct 

that occurred in 1981.  488 U.S. at 206-7.  Bowen stands for the unremarkable principle that “an 

administrative agency’s power to promulgate legislative regulations is limited to the authority 

delegated by Congress,” and that any grant of power to promulgate retroactive regulations must 

be express.  Id. at 208 (emphasis added).  It does not, however, address, much less control, cases 

dealing with allegedly retroactive agency adjudications.  See, e.g., Eagle Healthcare v. Shalala, 

52 F. Supp. 2d 1, 7-8 (D.D.C. 1999)(Secretary’s actions fell in the sphere of case-by-case 

adjudication and therefore Bowen did not apply)).  Here, the NOV is the product of 

adjudication,14 so Bowen does not control.  The NIGC’s authority to engage in enforcement 

                                                           
14 NIGC is not required to promulgate a regulation defining “sole proprietary interest,” but 

retains the discretion to proceed by adjudication.  See SEC v. Chenery Corp., 332 U.S. 194, 203 

(1947) (“the choice made between proceeding by general rule or by individual, ad hoc litigation 

is one that lies primarily in the informed discretion of the administrative agency.”); Qwest Servs. 
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actions is found in 25 U.S.C. § 2713.  The NIGC need not point to any additional provision that 

authorizes its actions in this case. 

 2. The NOV is Prospective Because It Is Forward-Looking 

 

 The City argues that the NOV is retrospective because the NIGC had previously spoken 

to the contracts at issue.  Mem. at 35 (“IGRA does not provide the NIGC with authority to 

initiate a new review of agreements and disapprove what was previously authorized.”).  As 

discussed supra at Part B.1, the NOV is not a disapproval and does not reverse any previous 

approval.  The 1994 Agreements are not made void by the NOV.  The NOV simply identifies 

those provisions of the 1994 Agreements that violate IGRA. 

 The NOV is prospective.  It directs the Band to “cease performance under the 1994 

Agreements of those provisions identified in this NOV as violating IGRA.  This applies to the 

entire 42 year term of the 1994 Agreements.”  AR 50.  As a matter of language and logic, one 

cannot “cease” performance of something that has already been performed.  The NOV is thus not 

directed at past performance under the Agreements.  For example, the NOV does not require the 

City to disgorge the $75 million that it received under the first term of the Agreements.  In fact, 

the NIGC has no authority over the City and as such the NOV was directed solely at the Band.  

The NOV did not dictate any particular course of action.  After the issuance of the NOV, the 

Band was at liberty to cease gaming altogether, AR 1157, or renegotiate the agreements.  Again, 

the NOV is a prospective enforcement order that directs the Band to cease performance 

prospectively. 

 

 

                                                                                                                                                                                           

Corp. v. FCC, 509 F.3d 531, 536 (D.C. Cir. 2007)(“agencies have very broad discretion whether 

to proceed by way of adjudication or rulemaking.”)(internal citations omitted). 
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3. The NOV Is Prospective Because It Does Not Announce a New Rule of Law 

 

 A rule is retroactive if “the rule itself effected a clear change in the legal landscape and 

attached new legal consequences to past actions.”  Catholic Health Initiatives Iowa Corp. v. 

Sebelius, 718 F.3d 914, 921 (D.C. Cir. 2013).  Here, however, the NOV does not set forth for the 

first time a clear change in the legal landscape.  As discussed in the NOV, the NIGC has issued 

over 50 legal opinions regarding the “sole proprietary interest” mandate.  AR 45.  The NOV 

compares the terms of the 1994 Agreements to several previous legal opinions and enforcement 

actions and explains how these similarities show that the 1994 Agreements violate IGRA.  AR 

45-47.  These legal opinions and enforcement actions are available to the public on NIGC’s 

website.15  By the time the NOV was issued in 2011, the legal landscape had changed. 

 Moreover, the City was on notice that the legal landscape had changed.  First, the City 

had constructive notice because it, like all parties involved in Indian gaming, had access to the 

NIGC’s evolving view of the “sole proprietary interest” requirement.  City of Duluth v. Fond du 

Lac Band of Lake Superior Chippewa, 977 F. Supp. 2d 944, 955 (D. Minn. 2013) (“This 

question is a close call, but the Court ultimately finds that the City was on notice that the NIGC’s 

views on the validity of the 1994 Agreements might well have changed.”).  Second, the City had 

actual notice as of 2009 that the Band thought the legal landscape had changed.  AR 1416-19; 

AR 1440; AR 1444 (“terms in the 1994 Contracts still violate the requirement that Indian tribes 

have ‘the sole proprietary interest and responsibility for the conduct of any gaming activity’ at 

their gaming operations.” (citing 25 U.S.C. § 2710(b)(2)(A); (d)(1)(A)(ii))).  At that point, 

prudence dictated investigation of the Band’s assertion that the 1994 Agreements violated IGRA.  

                                                           
15 National Indian Gaming Commission Reading Room: Sole-Proprietary-Interest Letters, 

http://www.nigc.gov/Reading_Room/Sole-Proprietary-Interest-Letters.aspx (last visited July 24, 

2014); National Indian Gaming Commission Reading Room: Enforcement Actions, 

http://www.nigc.gov/Reading_Room/Enforcement_Actions.aspx (last visited July 24, 2014). 
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The City is a sophisticated party, who like all litigants, is charged with knowledge of the law.  

See Hodel v. Irving, 481 U.S. 704, 726 (1987). 

 The situation is similar to that in American Telephone & Telegraph Co. v. FCC, 454 F.3d 

329 (D.C. Cir. 2006).  In AT&T, AT&T argued that a particular calling card it sold was an 

“information service” instead of a “telecommunications service.”  Id. at 331.  The classification 

affected the amount of fees AT&T would be required to pay.  AT&T argued that the FCC had 

ratified AT&T’s position in 1994 when the FCC accepted for filing a manual where AT&T 

classified its calling cards as an “information service.”  Id. at 332.  In rejecting this contention, 

the court noted that, as of 1994, “the statutory definitions of telecommunications and information 

services had not been fixed.”  Id.  In the intervening years, the FCC developed these definitions 

more fully.  Thus, “AT&T’s reliance [in 2004] on this old filing, in the face of such significant 

legal change . . . could not have been reasonable.”  Id.16 

 So too here.  In 1994, the NIGC was a fledgling agency. The term “sole proprietary 

interest” had been interpreted only once before.  AR 33 n.2.  In an apparently cursory review, the 

NIGC offered its advisory opinion via letter that the 1994 Agreements were consistent with 

IGRA.  AR 37; AR 325-26.  As discussed above, this was neither a formal approval nor a final 

agency action.  See supra at Part B.2.  In the intervening years, the NIGC was able to develop its 

interpretation of “sole proprietary interest” through detailed case-by-case adjudication.  AR 45.  

The NOV was “simply the latest application of this approach.”  See AT&T, 454 F.3d at 333.  

The NOV does not announce a new rule and is therefore not retroactive. 

 

                                                           
16 The D.C. Circuit has also found reliance unreasonable in the face of rather insignificant legal 

change.  In Clark-Cowlitz, the court charged the plaintiff with knowledge of a brief filed by the 

Solicitor General in a case where the Supreme Court denied certiorari.  Clark-Cowlitz Joint 

Operating Agency v. FERC, 826 F.2d 1074 (D.C. Cir. 1987). 
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E. Alternatively, the NOV is Not Impermissibly Retroactive 

 

 “[T]he Administrative Procedure Act generally contemplates that when an agency 

proceeds by adjudication, it will apply its ruling to the case at hand.”  Clark-Cowlitz Joint 

Operating Agency v. FERC, 826 F.2d 1074, 1082 (D.C. Cir. 1987).  “Nevertheless, a 

retrospective application can properly be withheld when to apply the new rule to past conduct or 

prior events would work a manifest injustice.”  Id. at 1081 (citations omitted).  The City analyzes 

the propriety of the NOV under the five factor test for manifest injustice announced in Retail, 

Wholesale & Department Store Union v. NLRB, 466 F.2d 380 (D.C. Cir. 1972), and as applied 

in Williams Natural Gas Co. v. FERC, 3 F.3d 1544 (D.C. Cir. 1993), but this test is inapplicable 

in this context.  As a threshold matter, the Retail Union test applies where an agency announces a 

new rule of law and simultaneously applies it to past conduct.  Because the NOV does not 

announce a new rule of law, see supra at Part D.3, the test is inapplicable.   

However, in the event the court finds the NOV to be retroactive, it should also conclude 

that it is not impermissibly so.  This Circuit has not been consistent in its approach to the test for 

manifest injustice and does not always “plow laboriously” through the five Retail Union factors.  

Verizon Tel. Cos. v. FCC, 269 F.3d 1098, 1109-10 (D.C. Cir. 2001).  Indeed, a close reading of 

the case law reveals that courts essentially balance the plaintiff’s reasonable detrimental reliance 

with the statutory interest in applying the new rule to the case at hand.  See, e.g., SEC v. Chenery 

Corp., 332 U.S. 194, 203-4 (1947)(“retroactivity must be balanced against the mischief of 

producing a result which is contrary to a statutory design or to legal and equitable principles”); 

Catholic Health Initiatives Iowa Corp. v. Sebelius, 718 F.3d 914, 922 (D.C. Cir. 2013)(finding it 

unnecessary to reach question of retroactivity because plaintiff “presented no explanation as to 

how it relied to its detriment on the alleged prior policy”)).  Here, the City did not rely 
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reasonably to its detriment on the NIGC’s past actions.  Additionally, Congress’s interest in 

ensuring that tribes retain the “sole proprietary interest” for the gaming operation is great. 

 1. The City Did Not Detrimentally Rely on the 1994 Letter, Nor Can it   

  Demonstrate That Any Claimed Reliance was Reasonable 

 

 The City argues that it relied on the 1994 Letter as follows:  “The City’s reliance on the 

1994 NIGC approval was substantial.  It participated in negotiations under the auspices of the 

NIGC chairman and settled its legal dispute with the Band based upon the NIGC’s 

recommendation.  Such reliance is substantial and weighs in favor of reversal of the NOV.”  

Mem. at 42-43.  Notably, the City does not explain how its reliance on the 1994 Letter is 

detrimental.   

 First, it is important to note that the City entered into the 1986 Agreements while IGRA 

was still a gleam in Congress’s eye.17  The 1994 Letter could not have induced the City to take 

any actions to its detriment in the 1986 Agreements.  AR 41 (“The City’s condemnation of the 

land, construction of a parking garage, and support of the trust acquisition all occurred well 

before the 1994 Agreements.  Such actions by the City are not continuing . . . .”).  As described 

in the NOV, many of the provisions of the 1986 Agreements were carried forward into the 1994 

Agreements.  Id. 

Thus, the only valid claims to reliance that can be raised by the City were in regard to 

changes that were put into effect in 1994, after NIGC’s involvement.18  But the 1994 Agreements 

                                                           
17 IGRA was enacted in 1988.  Indian Gaming Regulatory Act, Pub. L. No. 100-497, 102 Stat. 

2467 (1988). 

 
18 If there is any doubt in this respect, consider what would have happened in the absence of 

NIGC involvement in 1994.  If the Minnesota court had determined the agreements violated 

IGRA, the City would have faced the possibility of receiving no further benefits under the 1986 

Agreements.  If the court determined the agreements were consistent with IGRA, the City would 

have lived with the terms of the 1986 Agreements until the NOV issued in 2011. 
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primarily shuffle responsibility and liability onto the Band.19  The only liability assumed by the 

City under the 1994 Agreements is for the $2 million parking ramp.20  AR 1329-31; AR 1333-

37; see also Mem. at 44.  However, the City received over $8 million from the Economic 

Development Commission in the Distribution of Assets that was part of the 1994 Agreements.21  

That $8 million more than covered the City’s liability for the parking ramp. 

In fact, the City is likely better off under the 1994 Agreements than it was under the 1986 

Agreements.  As mentioned above, the Band paid the City $8 million in the 1994 Distribution of 

Assets, in excess of its $2 million liability.  And as mentioned in the NOV, the City’s share of 

revenues under the 1994 terms (19% of gross revenues from video games of chance) may well 

have exceeded the City’s share of revenues under the 1986 terms (24.5% of net revenues).  AR 

34, 41, 48. 

Nor can the City show that any reliance on the 1994 Agreements would have been 

reasonable.  For example, the City cannot demonstrate that it reasonably relied on the future 

revenue stream from the casino.  Prior to the issuance of the NOV, the City knew that its share of 

revenues was uncertain.  First, under the 1994 Agreements, the Band was at liberty to cease 

gaming at any time.  AR 1157.  Second, the City was not entitled under the 1994 Agreements to 

any particular percentage of net revenues during the second term of the Agreements.  AR 1151.  

The parties were to negotiate for the amount of rent for the second term, which was to begin on 

April 1, 2011.  Id.  Third, there was no guarantee that the casino would remain profitable.  In 

                                                           
19 Even a quick scan of the Tribal-City Accord reveals that nearly every paragraph begins with 

the phrases “the band will,” “the band agrees,” or “the band shall.”  AR 1220-97. 

 
20 The City’s brief also identifies the non-compete agreement as a detriment it undertook, Mem. 

at 44, but this agreement dates back to the 1986 Agreements.  AR 1045.  NIGC did not and could 

not have induced the City to enter the non-compete agreement. 

 
21 The City received $3,082,177 from the Parking Ramp Escrow Fund and $5,378,102 from the 

Commission’s cash assets, for a total of $8,460,279.  AR 1324-25. 
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light of all of the future possibilities—no gaming revenue at all, uncertain gaming revenue under 

the second term, and uncertain gaming revenue as a matter of the casino’s vitality—the City 

could not have reasonably relied on receiving any particular amount of money under the 1994 

Agreements.  

Furthermore, “for reliance to establish manifest injustice, it must be reasonable—

reasonably based on settled law contrary to the rule established in the adjudication.  The mere 

possibility that a party may have relied on its own (rather convenient) assumption that unclear 

law would ultimately be resolved in its favor is insufficient to defeat the presumption of 

retroactivity when that law is finally clarified.”  Qwest Servs. Corp. v. FCC, 509 F.3d 531, 540 

(D.C. Cir. 2007).  To the extent the City detrimentally relied on the 1994 Letter, it relied on its 

own rather convenient assumption that NIGC’s interpretation of “sole proprietary interest” 

would be resolved in its favor.  As discussed supra at Part D.3, the City was on notice that the 

law had evolved and its reliance, if any, was not reasonable. 

 2. The Statutory Interest in Enforcing the NOV is Great 

 

 Section 2713 requires that the NIGC “shall” initiate an enforcement action “whenever” it 

discovers a violation of IGRA.  25 U.S.C. § 2713(a)(3).  This strong language suggests that 

Congress was concerned with arresting violations of IGRA at any time.  In enacting IGRA, 

Congress wanted “to provide a statutory basis for the operation of gaming by Indian tribes as a 

means of promoting tribal economic development, self-sufficiency, and strong tribal 

governments,” 25 U.S.C. § 2702(1), as well as “to ensure that the Indian tribe is the primary 

beneficiary of the gaming operation,” 25 U.S.C. § 2701(2).  These purposes cannot be realized if 

the “sole proprietary interest” mandate is not enforced. 

Case 1:13-cv-00246-CKK   Document 26   Filed 08/07/14   Page 40 of 42



34 
 

 Clark-Cowlitz Joint Operating Agency v. FERC, 826 F.2d 1074 (D.C. Cir. 1987), is 

instructive.  In Clark-Cowlitz, FERC issued a declaratory order that cities would receive 

municipal preference in relicensing proceedings for hydroelectric power plants.  Id. at 1077.  

Three years later, FERC reversed its position and determined that municipalities would not 

receive preference if in competition with an incumbent licensee.  Id.  FERC changed its position 

because it concluded that the previous interpretation was contrary to congressional intent.  Id.  

While the court remanded to the agency on other grounds, it upheld FERC’s reinterpretation as 

consistent with congressional intent.  Id. at 1092.  In reaching that result, the court noted that 

“[w]ithholding retroactive application would grant [plaintiff] a 30-year benefit to which FERC 

now believes it is not entitled.”  Id. at 1085.  Besides conferring an undeserved benefit, 

“Congress’s statutory interest in awarding the license to the best qualified applicant . . . would 

not be fulfilled . . . for three decades if nonretroactive application” was required.  Id. at 1085 

n.11 (emphasis in the original). 

 Similarly here, the NIGC has concluded that its previous interpretation in the 1994 Letter 

was contrary to congressional intent.  AR 33.  Vacatur of the NOV could grant the City a 25-year 

benefit to which it is not entitled.22  Additionally, Congress’s statutory interest in ensuring that 

the Band retains the “sole proprietary interest” in the gaming operation could be thwarted for 

over two decades.  Section 2713 does not limit the exercise of NIGC’s enforcement authority; 

this Court should not do so here. 

 

                                                           
22 IGRA provides that net gaming revenues may be used to “help fund operations of local 

government agencies.”  25 U.S.C. § 2710(b)(2)(B)(v).  That a local government agency may 

receive such revenues does not create any entitlement.  This provision is typically carried out in 

municipal service agreements that delineate a fee for specific services.  The 1994 Agreements 

run far afield of these municipal service agreements because it provides a percentage of net 

revenue without regard to services provided. AR 48-49. 
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CONCLUSION 

 Under the APA, the City must demonstrate that the Notice of Violation was arbitrary and 

capricious or that the NOV was issued in excess of authority. The City fails to satisfy that high 

burden: the record fully supports the NIGC’s finding that 1994 Agreements violate IGRA’s “sole 

proprietary interest” mandate and the issuance of the NOV.  Accordingly, the NIGC respectfully 

requests that the Court deny the City’s Motion for Summary Judgment and grant the United 

States’ Cross-Motion for Summary Judgment on all counts.23 

Dated: August 7, 2014   Respectfully submitted, 

      SAM HIRSCH 

      Acting Assistant Attorney General 

      Environment & Natural Resources Division 

      U.S. Department of Justice 

 

      /s/  Laura L. Maul    

      LAURA L. MAUL 

      Trial Attorney, Admitted to the Maryland Bar 

      Indian Resources Section 

      P.O. Box 7611, Ben Franklin Station 

      Washington, D.C. 20044  

      Telephone: (202) 305-0486 

      Facsimile: (202) 305-0275 

      Email: laura.maul@usdoj.gov 

 

OF COUNSEL: 

 

John Hay 

National Indian Gaming Commission 

90 K St NE, Suite 200 

Washington, DC 20002 

                                                           
23 The City’s Motion for Summary Judgment seeks reversal of the NOV and an order requiring 

the NIGC Chair to reinstate his approval of the 1994 Agreements.  Mot. at 1; Proposed Order.  

The APA does not authorize this type of remedy, stating only that actions contrary to law may be 

“set aside.”  5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(A).  The proper remedy here, if needed, would be to set aside the 

NOV and remand to the agency for further consideration.  See City of Duluth v. NIGC, 2013 WL 

6654079, at *7 (D.D.C. Dec. 18, 2013) (quoting In re Polar Bear Endangered Species Act Listing 

and § 4(d) Rule Litigation, 818 F. Supp. 2d 214, 238 (D.D.C. 2011) (“[T]he Supreme Court and 

the D.C. Circuit have held that vacatur is the presumptive remedy for this type of violation.”)). 
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